
 

CITY OF NORTH POLE 
Regular Meeting October 2, 2017 

North Pole Council Chambers 
125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska 

 
 
 
 

MONDAY, OCTOBER 2, 2017 
Committee of the Whole: 6:30 p.m. 

Regular City Council Meeting – 7:00 p.m. 
 

 
   

MAYOR       CITY CLERK 
Bryce Ward – Borough Rep     Judy Binkley   
888-4444          488-8583  
 

 
  COUNCIL MEMBERS        

Kevin McCarthy- Alt Dep Mayor Pro Tem 590-0800 
Avery Thompson    388-5351 
David Skipps     750-5106   
Santa Claus       388-3836 
Thomas McGhee – Mayor Pro Tem  455-0010 
Doug Isaacson  - Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 322-3133 
 
 

  
1. Call to Order/Roll Call 
  
2. Pledge of Allegiance to the US Flag 
 
3. Invocation   

  
4. Approval of the Agenda 

 
5. Approval of the Minutes  
 
6. Communications from the Mayor 

 
• Proclamation: Student of the Month, Jeremiah Scott 
• Fallen Heroes Award & Check Presentations 

 
7. Council Member Questions of the Mayor 

 
8. Communications from Department Heads, Borough Representative and the City Clerk 



 
9. Ongoing Projects Report 

 
10. Citizens Comments (Limited to Five (5) minutes per Citizen) 

 
11. Old Business 

None 
 

12. New Business 

a. Acceptance request of 2017 SHSP Grant EMW-2017-SS-00048-S01. 
b. Acceptance request of G2 Construction’s proposal for $604,229 to design and 

renovate the Santa’s Senior Center funded by a Community Development Block 
Grant. 

c. Acceptance request of Hubbard Excavation’s bid for the 2017-2018 snow removal 
contract. 

d. Authorize the purchase of a parcel of land from the University of Alaska Fairbanks for 
the construction of the Peridot Pump House for the water system extension project. 

e. Extend the heating fuel contract for the period January 1 through December 31, 2018 
with Alaska Fuel Services at the same terms as the 2017 Contract. 

f. Authorize the special purchase of gravel from HC Contractors needed for the water 
system extension project winter construction activities. 

g. Amendment to the Developer Agreement for the Ford Subdivision – Fourth Addition 
to accept a Promissory Note secured by a Deed of Trust in lieu of a 1-year warranty 
bond. 

h. Resolution 17-17, A Resolution accepting ownership and maintenance responsibility 
for 1st Avenue from Rossons Cross Way to Homestead Road; 2nd and 3rd Avenues 
from Rossons Cross Way to Therron Street and Therron Street from 1st Avenue to 4th 
Avenue in the Ford Subdivision, Third Addition. 

 
13. Council Comments 
 
14. Adjournment 
 
The City of North Pole will provide an interpreter at City Council meetings for hearing impaired 
individuals.  The City does require at least 48 hours’ notice to arrange for this service.  All such 
requests are subject to the availability of an interpreter.  All City Council meetings are recorded on CD.  
These CD’s are available for listening or duplication at the City Clerk’s Office during regular business 
hours, Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. or can be purchased for $10.00 per CD. The 
City Clerk’s Office is located in City Hall, 125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska. 



Regular City Council Meeting 
September 18, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   1 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
September 18, 2017 
 
 

 
 

Committee of the Whole – 6:30 P.M. 
      Regular City Council Meeting – 7:00 P.M. 

 
A regular meeting of the North Pole City Council was held on Monday, September 18, 2017 in 
the Council Chambers of City Hall, 125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska. 
 
CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
Mayor Ward called the regular City Council meeting of Monday, September 18, 2017 to order at  
7:01 p.m. 
                 
There were present:     Absent/Excused 
Mr. McCarthy – Alt Dep Mayor Pro Tem          
Mr. Isaacson - Deputy Mayor Pro Tem   
Mr. Thompson       Excused    
Mr. McGhee - Mayor Pro Tem              
Mr. Claus        
Mr. Skipps            
Mayor Ward     
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE U.S. FLAG 
Led by Mayor Ward 
 
INVOCATION  
Invocation was given by Mr. Isaacson 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
 
Mr. McGhee moved to approve the agenda of September 18, 2017 
 
Seconded by Mr. Isaacson 
 
DISCUSSION 
None 
 
Mr. McGhee moved to consent the following items: 
 
Old Business: 
 

a. Ordinance 17-20A, An Ordinance of the City of North Pole, Alaska to amend 
Title 1, by updating general penalties and including a surcharge section and 
code violation schedule. 

 



Regular City Council Meeting 
September 18, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   2 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
September 18, 2017 
 
 

 
New Business: 
 

a. Approval request of Election Judges and Canvass Board members for the 
October 3, 2017 Regular Municipal Election. 

b. Escrow agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, State of Alaska, the City of North 
Pole, and Flint Hills Resources Alaska, LLC for the interim funding of the 
piped water system. 

c. Request to write off delinquent utility account. 
 
Seconded by Mr. Isaacson  
 
Discussion 
None 
 
On the amendment 
 
PASSED 
Yes: 6 – McGhee, Isaacson, Skipps, Claus, McCarthy, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 1 - Thompson   
 
On the Agenda as amended 
 
Discussion 
None  
 
PASSED 
Yes: 6 – McGhee, Isaacson, Skipps, Claus, McCarthy, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 1 - Thompson   
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Mr.  McGhee moved to approve the Minutes of September 5, 2017  
 
Seconded by Mr. Isaacson 
 
Discussion 
Mr. McGhee requested more details in future minutes.  
 
PASSED 



Regular City Council Meeting 
September 18, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   3 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
September 18, 2017 
 
 

Yes: 6 – McGhee, Isaacson, Skipps, Claus, McCarthy, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 1 - Thompson   
 
COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR  
 

• The Violations Committee will be meeting before the first meeting of every month in the 
Council Chambers starting at 5:30pm.  The public is welcome to attend.  We will be 
visiting each section of code to revise our Violations Schedule. 

• I am currently supporting the American Cancer Society with the Real Men Wear Pink 
Campaign.  The campaign will be wrapping up this weekend with an event at Kendall 
Toyota at 5pm on Friday, September 22nd and the Cancer Walk at 10:30am on the 23rd at 
the Morris Thompson Cultural and Visitor Center. 

• September 9th was the second annual Mayors’ March.  We started at City Hall and were 
joined by about two dozen members of the public which included the North Pole JROTC.  
The Cadets also participated in the “one homeless night” at The Door.  Thank you to 
Mayors Kassel and Matherly for participating in this year’s event, it was a BIG success. 

• This past Friday was the Mayors’ Bowl and unfortunately the Patriots lost to the 
Malamutes which means I lost the bet with Matherly and thus must don a Lathrop jersey. 

• KJNP will be hosting its 50th anniversary celebration at the Wedgewood Resort on 
Saturday, October 7th at 6pm.  Tickets are available at KJNP and seating is limited. 

• The Richardson Hwy MP 351 Interchange (aka 12 Mile) 1st Open House will be 
September 27th at Hotel North Pole from 5-9pm.  There are several options on the table 
and public input is really needed. 

• My wife is officially 37 weeks pregnant and is ready to have our second child.  When this 
does occur, I will be taking about a week off to help with the transition and be with my 
family.  The Council will be notified via email when that happens and I am trying to keep 
my schedule open for the next two-three weeks. 

 
COUNCIL MEMBER QUESTIONS OF THE MAYOR  
None 
 
COMMUNICATIONS FROM DEPARTMENT HEADS, BOROUGH 
REPRESENTATIVE AND THE CITY CLERK 
 
Fire Dept., Chief Coon 

• The Department has been very busy with training.  We currently have 5 members taking 
the State of Alaska EMT 1 class and 5 members taking the State of Alaska Firefighter 1 
class.  We are very excited about having so many community members participating in 
training. 

• The Department has received a quote to replace our aging and failing boiler control 



Regular City Council Meeting 
September 18, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   4 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
September 18, 2017 
 
 

system.  This is an extensive project that will require running new zone valves, wires and 
controls.  This project will cost approximately $10,000.00. 

• We have been doing some painting at the annex.  We are hopeful that we don’t get 
wintered out on the project.  This is being completed by staff and volunteers at the 
department as other duties allow. 

• Chief Coon will be attending the Alaska Fire Conference in Sitka late next week.  I will 
be attending both state chiefs board meetings and fire training classes. 

• The Department participated in a regional grant to replace air packs and recently was 
notified that we were awarded our grant.  The Department is currently using air packs 
that are nearly 40 years old.  The grant was put in as a regional grant with University FD, 
Ester FD, Chena Goldstream FD and NPFD participating.  Special thanks go to Chief 
Doug Schrage of University Fire Department for writing the grant. 

• Lastly, this year it appears that the Department has been responding to an increased 
number of very serious EMS calls.  Our hearts go out to the community members that 
have been involved in these tragedies.  Please keep our medics and responders in your 
thoughts as well.  These serious calls affect our medics in ways that are difficult to talk 
about. 

• Mr. Isaacson asked about a previous grant for the air packs and Chief Coon stated the 
previous grant was to upgrade their existing air packs while this new recent federal grant 
will actually replace the air packs. 

 
Police Dept., Chief Dutra 

• Grant approval for $58,813.40: $50,000 for radios and remaining for exercise OT for 
2018 shield.  A letter to accept the grant funds will come forward at the next meeting. 

• Door project is almost completed.  Need some small items taken care of and may ask for 
an extension. 

• Mr. Skipps invited our officers to a NPHS football game to be honored.  They attended 
practice but were sent on a disturbance call and were not able to make it.  Thank you for 
your thoughts and please pass on our apology. 

• ALICE project is moving forward.  We have a FNSB school board presentation October 
17th at 7pm.  We have invited Chief Hinkle from Valdez to present.  Training is set for 
January 22-23rd. 

• Received a couple of speeding complaints from residents.  We have thrown resources at 
it and have had some results.  I have directed our Traffic Officer to hit the neighborhoods 
as soon as our shift relief hits October 1st.  Please keep me posted if and when folks have 
issues. 

• Budget looks good, I suspect I will deliver BELOW my expectations.  We have a lot of 
challenges next year and we shall do our best to offer up a responsible budget for 2018.  I 
look forward to my budget presentation to the Council on October 30th at 6pm. 

• Active in my duties as a board member with Alaska Association of Chiefs of Police.  We 
approved a draft opposition to on site consumption.  We also appointed a new executive 
director. 



Regular City Council Meeting 
September 18, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   5 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
September 18, 2017 
 
 

• Guys Read is next week.  I will be reading to 4th grade boys at Tikasuk Brown.  Love the 
program and I encourage each of you to sign up if you’re interested in this awesome 
program. 

• Just as a side note: Governor Walker is concerned about rise in crimes across the state 
due to SB91 BUT I won’t say “I told you so” because that would not be very nice to say 
to our fine governor.  As you all know I opposed this until a public safety impact could 
be conducted. 

• The Reserve associate was ripped off by Jackie Chan!  Yes, Jackie charged 415 credit 
card checks through our website portal.  $0.35 a piece cost us $200.  So we are looking 
for Jackie Chan.  Also, we fixed the loop hold so we could put Jackie out of business. 

• Memorial Park 
o Ticket sales are on an upswing due to Sam’s Club sales.  $5 of sales goes to the 

Children’s Miracle Network – last tally is $500 donated. 
o Benny from Pagoda just offered, a couple hours ago, to donate a $25 gift card to 

all those folks who buy a $50 ticket.  He will donate up to a maximum of $750.  
So now there is an incentive to buy one from Pagoda.  This is a win win win! 

o Most of these increases in sales is directly due to Mike Welch and his wife, Aino. 
o I do want to thank all of you who helped with ticket sales or purchased one.  Last 

day is the 23rd and the Corvette is being drawn on the 24th. 
o Lithia has offered to allow us to host the drawing there on Sunday.  Radio spots 

will happen to promote. 
o Mr. McGhee asked about the status of security cameras at the park and Chief 

Dutra stated he’s been working with the vendors and they have indicated to have 
something in place before “the freeze.” 

 
Finance, Tricia Fogarty 

• Presented the financials (full financials were emailed and summarized were presented at 
the dais). 

• Received state funds that were unexpected. 
• Went through the administrative amendments for each department. 
• Mr. Isaacson asked if we need to raise fees in order to cover the credit card fees not just 

with police but throughout the city.  Ms. Fogarty replied that this has been discussed and 
we will continue to revisit during our budget season. 

• Mayor Ward also stated he wanted Council to be aware that the sales tax revenue 
number is usually about 20% less than what the true value is because there is a month 
delay from the time we actually see that revenue. 

 
Director of City Services, Bill Butler  
Building Department 

• No new building permits issued since September 5th Council meeting. 



Regular City Council Meeting 
September 18, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   6 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
September 18, 2017 
 
 

• Contacted by designer for a planned dental practice to be located at intersection of 
Kevin’s Way and Santa Claus Lane.  Expect to see the plans this winter. 

• Three proposals received this afternoon for the Senior Center Remodel Project.  Plan to 
make a recommendation to the Council at the October 2nd meeting. 

Public Works 
• Good weather is prolonging landscape maintenance activities. 
• Invitation to Bid for snowplow contract released and bids due September 25.  Hope to 

have a recommendation for Council at the October 2nd meeting. 
• Mr. Isaacson asked Mr. Butler if they had some guys out brush cutting to spend some 

time on one of the nature trails. 
Utility Department 

• Sulfolane settlement 
o Request for Council approval of escrow account to pay construction costs 

associated with the water system extension project before the Council this 
evening. 

o Last week requested quotes from gravel suppliers for planned 2018 winter 
construction project.  Quotes due September 19.  Gravel purchase may be the first 
construction-related expense to test the escrow account process. 

o University of Alaska has agreed to sell parcel of land where a new pump house 
will be installed.  The property is at intersection of Peridot Street and Badger 
Road outside of the City limits.  Cost is $79,000 and a request for Council 
authorization to approve the purchase will be presented at October 2nd Council 
meeting. 

• Copy of 2016 Utility Annual report attached.  The report is an effort to help keep utility 
customers informed about the Utility’s activities. 

Natural Gas Utility Board 
• There has not been an IGU meeting since the last City Council meeting, so no news to 

report.  There is an IGU board meeting scheduled for tomorrow, September 19. 
 
Borough Representative 

• In an effort to help educate local residents, the Fairbanks North Star Borough is hosting 
the second annual Clear the Air Home Heating Forum and Expo on September 22-23rd at 
the Wedgewood Resort Hotel.  There is no cost to attend this event, however, pre-
registration is required. 

• On-Site consumption for marijuana was discussed at the last assembly meeting. 
  
City Clerk’s Office, Judy Binkley 



Regular City Council Meeting 
September 18, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   7 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
September 18, 2017 
 
 

• In-person absentee voting is now available at City Hall.  Polls are open from 8:00 a.m. – 
5:00 p.m. 

• Sample ballots are now on the website for those that want to have a look before voting. 
• The Municipal Election for the City of North Pole will be held Tuesday, October 3, 2017. 
• The Alaska Municipal League Annual Local Government Conference is November 15-

17th.  If any Council members are interested in attending, please let me know and I’ll sign 
you up for the conference and book your hotel and airfare. 

 
ONGOING PROJECTS 
None 
 
CITIZENS COMMENTS – (Limited to Five (5) minutes per Citizen) 
 
Tammy Wilson: Wanted to talk about a disappointing experience – local business needed 
inspection from fire marshal to proceed with their project.  Saw an opportunity for the City of 
North Pole since the state is short funded at the moment.  Would like to see City of North Pole to 
partner with City of Fairbanks to do the inspection rather than waiting for the fire marshal.  
Talked about how we have a short building season so we need to work together to get permits 
issued in a timely and economical fashion. 
 Mr. Isaacson asked if Rep. Wilson would assist with coming up with funds and Rep. 
Wilson replied that the state has no funds which is why we have to work together with those who 
have something in place already.   
 Mayor Ward asked Rep. Wilson if she was aware he was already working on this issue.  
Rep. Wilson replied that she was at this point. 
 
Jim Williams: Referring to the resolution the Mayor brought up during the Borough 
Representative comments, the assembly did not adopt the marijuana resolution for on-site 
consumption as it was “too much too soon.”  Central recycling center is open.  Open Tuesday-
Saturday, noon-5:00pm.  17 tons of mixed paper just since 9/1.  4000+ new residents for EAFB.  
Housing needs is the biggest issue.  EAFB not planning to build any new housing.  Transfer site 
cleanup has been an overwhelming success. 
 Mr. McGhee commended the transfer site effort. 
 Mr. Isaacson asked what happens if all the transfer sites close at 7 as that doesn’t work 
for everyone and wanted to know what we are getting for the $1M to clean.  Mr. Williams 
replied that contracting out just the cleaning with Alaska Waste cost over $1M.  That was just to 
clean the transfer sites.  As for the hours it was to avoid some of the illegal activity that occurs 
later at night.  Mr. Isaacson asked if the closing hours will be staggered and Mr. Williams 
replied that is the goal. 
 Mr. McGhee asked if he was aware that the City can’t use the borough transfer site and 
now have to have our own dumpsters and that it has created more police calls for NP.  Mr. 
Williams indicated he was unware of the increased police calls and requested the stats from 



Regular City Council Meeting 
September 18, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   8 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
September 18, 2017 
 
 

Chief Dutra. 
 Mayor Ward asked if there was any desire to look at City of Fairbanks folks who are 
using the transfer site.  Mr. Williams replied that they are aware that this is a recurring issue and 
have “busted” folks using the Farmer’s Loop and Badger Rd transfer sites.  They are aware of 
this issue but this has been difficult to quantify. 
 
Michael Welch: Gave an update on September to Remember and the Memorial Park.  Passed the 
1000 ticket sales for the Memorial Park raffle.  Thanked all the sponsors in both Fairbanks and 
North Pole who have helped out with this project. 
 Mr. Isaacson asked if he knew we appreciated his efforts. 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
ORDINANCE 17-22, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE, ALASKA TO 
AMEND THE 2017 OPERATING BUDGET AND OTHER FUNDS. 
 
Mayor Ward introduced the ordinance. 
 
Public Comment 
None 
 
Mr. McGhee moved to adopt Ordinance 17-22, an Ordinance of the City of North Pole, 
Alaska to amend the 2017 operating budget and other funds. 
 
Seconded by Mr. Isaacson 
 
Discussion 
Mr. McGhee moved to amend Ordinance 17-22 to increase state revenue sharing 01-00-7-
725 an additional $23,277.00 for a total amount of $43,142 and to increase transfer to fund 
balance 01-00-9-998 an additional $23,277.00 for a total amount of $36,133.97. 
 
Seconded by Mr. Isaacson 
 
Discussion 
None 
 
On the amendment 
 
PASSED 
Yes: 6 – McGhee, Isaacson, Skipps, Claus, McCarthy, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 1 – Thompson 
 



Regular City Council Meeting 
September 18, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   9 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
September 18, 2017 
 
 

Discussion on the motion as amended 
None 
 
On the motion as amended 
 
PASSED 
Yes: 6 – McGhee, Isaacson, Skipps, Claus, McCarthy, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 1 – Thompson 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE BROOKSIDE PARK AND BETWEEN THE 
CITY OF NORTH POLE, ALASKA AND AINLEY INTERNATIONAL MEMORIAL 
FUND, LLC DBA NORTH STAR DEVELOPERS 2017. 
 
Mayor Ward introduced the ordinance. 
 
Public Comment 
None 
 
Mr. McGhee moved to approve the development agreement for the Brookside Park and 
between the City of North Pole, Alaska and Ainley International Memorial Fund, LLC 
DBA North Star Developers 2017 
 
Seconded by Mr. Isaacson 
 
Discussion 
Mr. McGhee moved to amend the development agreement for the Brookside Park and 
between the City of North Pole, Alaska and Ainley International Memorial Fund, LLC 
DBA North Star Developers 2017 by: 

• page 5, section 1.55, remove “[list construction guidelines reference here]” 
• page 14, Local Roads, remove from the 1st line, “Clear Water Court” 
• page 19, APPENDIX ‘F’, remove “Blanket Blvd and Clear Water Court” 
• page 4, section 1.25, remove 2nd & 3rd paragraphs and substitute with “In lieu of a 

performance bond, the developer shall provide and sign a Promissory Note secured 
by a Deed of Trust on a property, agreed to by the Mayor, in a form acceptable to 
and approved by the City Attorney, clear of all liens and encumbrances.  The 
promissory note shall be equal to or greater than the estimated construction cost for 
completing the improvements plus City administration costs.  The Developer is 
guaranteeing completion of the public improvements before the final plat is 
submitted to the Fairbanks North Star Borough to the satisfaction of the City.  The 



Regular City Council Meeting 
September 18, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   10 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
September 18, 2017 
 
 

City will release the note and deed of trust on said property only after the 
improvements are constructed and accepted by the City.  Should the Developer 
desire with the Mayor’s consent to have the deed of trust transferred to another 
parcel, or to replace it with a cash bond, the developer agrees to maintain the 
security needed by the city.  The Developer must satisfy an adjusted amount not less 
than the uncompleted improvement remaining to be constructed.  The amount must 
be agreed to by the Mayor or designee.  Each phase will have a bond amount 
established and agreed on by the Mayor or designee.” 

• Page 5, section 1.60, remove 1st & 2nd paragraphs and substitute with “In lieu of a 1 
year warranty bond, the developer shall provide and sign a Promissory Note 
secured by a Deed of Trust on a property, agreed to by the Mayor, in a form 
acceptable to and approved by the City Attorney, clear of all liens and 
encumbrances.  The promissory note shall be equal to or greater than five percent 
(5%) of the construction cost for the completed improvements as established by the 
Mayor or Mayor’s designee, for the phase which the Developer desires the City to 
accept.  The City will release the note and deed of trust on said property after a 
period of 1 year from acceptance of the improvements by the City if no warranty 
claims are outstanding.  Should the Developer desire, with the Mayor’s consent, to 
have the deed transferred to another parcel, or to replace it with a cash bond, the 
developer agrees to maintain the security needed by the city.” 

 
Seconded by Mr. Isaacson 
 
Discussion 
None 
 
On the amendment 
 
PASSED 
Yes: 6 – McGhee, Isaacson, Skipps, Claus, McCarthy, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 1 – Thompson 
 
Discussion on the motion as amended 
None 
 
On the motion as amended 
 
PASSED 
Yes: 6 – McGhee, Isaacson, Skipps, Claus, McCarthy, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 1 – Thompson 



Regular City Council Meeting 
September 18, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   11 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
September 18, 2017 
 
 

 
COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
Mr. McGhee – none  

 
Mr. Isaacson – none  
 
Mr. Skipps – none  
 
Mr. Claus – none  
 
Mr. Thompson – absent  
 
Mr. McCarthy – none  
 
Mr. McGhee moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:27 p.m. 
 
Seconded by Mr. McCarthy 
 
The regular meeting of Monday, September 18, 2017 adjourned at 8:28 p.m.  
 
These minutes passed and approved by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City 
Council on Monday, October 2, 2017.  
   
        
 

____________________________________ 
        Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
  
___________________________________ 
Judy Binkley, North Pole City Clerk 
 
    



















































Memo 
To: North Pole City Council 

From: Bill Butler  

Date: September 26, 2017 

Subject: North Senior Center Bid Award Recommendation 

Recommendation 

 

Accept G2 Construction’s proposal for $604,229 to design and renovate the Santa’s Senior Center 

funded by a Community Development Block Grant. 

 

Background 

 

In June 2017, the City of North Pole received a Community Development Block (CDBG) grant for 

$718, 093 to renovate the Santa’s Senior Center. The project’s goal is to renovate the Center such that 

the structure and mechanical systems are upgrade to reduce the cost to operate the facility. CDBGs 

require a 25% matching contribution from the applicant, the City. The City’s matching contribution is 

the building that the City will donate to the Center when the renovations are completed.  

 

The City contracted with Design Alaska to perform an initial analysis of the condition of the Center 

facility and mechanical systems. Design Alaska also met with the Center’s membership to develop a 

renovation strategy within the projected available budget. The renovation strategy is to use a Design-

Build approach. The more typical approach would be a Design-Bid-Build approach. With the limited 

time line for the project—all funds must be expended by mid-September, there was insufficient time 

to use the Design-Bid-Build approach. As part of generating the request for proposals, Design Alaska 

generated a floor plan and specific renovation requirements for the facility. Based upon Design 

Alaska’s construction estimate, there were sufficient funds for $605,000 construction budget with a 

10% contingency. There needs to be a contingency because it is not possible to project the exact cost 

to renovate the aging facility and there needs to be funds to address any unknown conditions; for 

example, if the contractor discovered a serious structural deficiency and there was no contingency to 

address the problem, the project could be seriously compromised. If there are any unspent funds at the 

conclusion of the project, the City will propose to the funder to expand work that was not included in 

the original renovation RFP; for example, repave the Center’s parking lot. 

 

Besides assisting the City with generating a renovation plan, Design Alaska generated the request for 

proposals for the project, assisted with the evaluation of the submitted proposals, and will provide 

construction management services. 

 

125 Snowman Lane 

North Pole, Alaska 99705 

(907) 488-8593 

(907) 488-3002 (fax) 

bill.butler@northpolealaska.org 

City of North Pole 

Director of City Services 



Three firms submitted proposals: G2 Construction, GHEMM Company and Wolverine Supply. G2’s 

proposal was within the funding limit and it was able to include all of the added alternates providing 

the greatest value to the City. In addition, G2 is including some additional work not specifically 

requested in the RFP; for example, paving around entry ways and replacing the suspended ceiling 

throughout the Center. Attached is Design Alaska’s proposal review and recommendation. 





 

 

Memo 
To: North Pole City Council 

From: William Butler 

Date: September 26, 20156 

Subject: Recommendation to accept Hubbard Excavation’s bid to be the 2017-2018 snow 

removal contractor 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Accept Hubbard Excavation’s bid for the 2017-2018 snow removal contract. Should Hubbard 

Excavation not be able to satisfy the requirements to fulfill and contract, award the 2017-2018 Snow 

Removal contract to Hawks Enterprises. 
 

BACKGROUND 

 

The City received two bids for the 2017-2018 snow removal bid: 

 

 

 

 

Bidder name 

 

 

Citywide snow 

removal 

 

Citywide 

hardpack 

removal 

 

Hourly 

call-out rate: 8-

hour notice 

Hourly 

call-out rate: less 

than 8-hour 

notice 

Hubbard Excavation $8,800 $13,200 $200 $250 

Hawks Enterprises $10,000 $10,000 $300 $400 

 

 

Both bidders’ bids satisfied the invitation to bid’s minimum requirements. Based upon the Municipal 

Code, for Request for Bids, the contract should be awarded to the lowest responsive bidder. 

 

4.16.40 Competitive sealed bidding; Competitive Sealed Bidding; Section 7: 

"The contract shall be awarded with responsible promptness by written notice to the lowest 

responsible and responsive bidder whose bid meets the requirement and criteria set forth in the 

invitation for bids.” 

As of September 26, there was $36,000 remaining in the Public Works 2017 budget for snow plowing 

through December 31, 2017. Hubbard’s bid would allow four citywide plowings through December 

31, 2017. The proposed snow plowing budget for 2018 is $72,000, the same amount as in the 2017 

budget 

125 Snowman Lane 

North Pole, Alaska 99705 

(907) 488-8593 

(907) 488-3002 (fax) 

bill@northpolealaska.com 

City of North Pole 
Director of City Services 



 

 

Memo 
To: North Pole City Council 

From: William Butler 

Date: September 26, 20156 

Subject: Authorize the purchase of a parcel of land from the University of Alaska Fairbanks for 

the construction of the Peridot Pump House for the water system extension project. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Authorize the purchase of a parcel of land from the University of Alaska Fairbanks for the 

construction of the Peridot Pump House for the water system extension project. 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

The water system extension project requires the construction of a new pump house to 

provide water to the properties included in the sulfolane settlement agreement that are 

located north of the Richardson Highway. The pump house will be located on the parcel of 

land on the east side of Peridot Street where Peridot intersects Badger Road. The University 

of Alaska is the owner of the land and agreed to sell the land to the City. University policy 

requires that the land be sold for fair market value. The University accepted the third-party 

assessors’ determination that the value of the property was $79,000. For the sale to be 

finalized, the University requires completion of an Offer Purchase Form and a check for 

$79,000. The purchase of the land will have no budgetary effect upon the City. The sulfolane 

settlement agreement will pay for the purchase of the land. The payment check will be 

generated by Wells Fargo bank from the escrow account created by the parties to the lawsuit 

to pay project-related expenses.  

125 Snowman Lane 

North Pole, Alaska 99705 

(907) 488-8593 

(907) 488-3002 (fax) 

bill@northpolealaska.com 

City of North Pole 
Director of City Services 



 

 

UNIVERSITY OF ALASKA 

2017 LAND SALES CASH PURCHASE DISPOSAL 

OFFER TO PURCHASE FORM 
 

 

 

 

 

 

INSTRUCTIONS:  Please print legibly.  Please read all information in the Terms and Conditions of the University of Alaska 2017 

Land Sales Cash Purchase Disposal package prior to completing this form.  This form must be filled out in its entirety and must be 

submitted with the correct deposit amount.  The offer amount must be at or above the minimum price established by the University.  

This form must be submitted to the University of Alaska, Facilities and Land Management, at 1815 Bragaw Street, Suite 101, Anchorage, 

Alaska  99508-3438, or at 910 Yukon Drive, Suite 106, Fairbanks, Alaska  99775-5280. 
 

An Ethics Disclosure Form, if applicable, must be completed and MUST ACCOMPANY ALL OFFERS FROM UNIVERSITY 

EMPLOYEES OR FAMILY MEMBERS.  The Ethics Disclosure Form can be found at www.ualand.com. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

OFFEROR 

 
NAME                 

 

ADDRESS                

 

CITY             STATE          ZIP     

 

TELEPHONE NUMBER      (       )         FAX NUMBER      (    )      
 

 

 

 

 

OFFER 
 

I hereby submit an offer to purchase PARCEL #            
 

 

LOT        BLOCK        SUBDIVISION          
 

 

The amount of my offer is:  (please also write out the amount in words, rounded up to the nearest dollar). 
 

OFFER AMOUNT:         NO/CENTS     ($ ______________.00) 
 

The amount of my deposit is:  (must be a minimum of TEN PERCENT (10%) of the offer amount, (rounded up to the nearest dollar). 
 

DEPOSIT ENCLOSED:         NO/CENTS     ($ ______________.00) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

TERMS OF PURCHASE 
 

I will purchase the parcel under the  CASH payment terms. 

 

CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE

http://www.ualand.com/
jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text
125 Snowman Lane

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text
North Pole

jbennett
Typewritten Text
Alaska

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text
99705-7708

jbennett
Typewritten Text
907-488-2281

jbennett
Typewritten Text
907-488-3002

jbennett
Typewritten Text
1

jbennett
Typewritten Text
J

jbennett
Typewritten Text
Wrangell Subdivsion

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text
X

jbennett
Typewritten Text
FA.WR.0084

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text
Seventy Nine Thousand &

jbennett
Typewritten Text
79,000

jbennett
Typewritten Text
City of North Pole

jbennett
Typewritten Text
Seventy Nine Thousand &

jbennett
Typewritten Text
79,000



 

 

TITLE VERIFICATION 

 

Please type or print all names, as they should appear on the deed, deed of trust and deed of trust note.  ALL PARTIES TO BE 

NAMED ON THE DEED MUST SIGN THIS OFFER TO PURCHASE FORM.  Please note, the University will not extend 

financing or convey title to anyone under the age of eighteen (18): 
 

                 
 

                 
 

                 
 

Please indicate below if marital status should appear on the title: 
 

 Do not indicate marital status. 

 A single person(s). 

 A married person. 

 Husband and wife. 
 

If Offeror is more than one person, please specify one of the following: 
 

 As tenants by the entirety (husband and wife only). 

 As tenants in common. 

 Other.  Please specify (e.g., corporation).             

 

For purposes of general explanation only, the University provides the following (for further information, consult your attorney): 
 

Tenancy by the entirety.  As recognized in AS 34.15.110(b) and .140, a form of ownership created between a husband and wife, by 

which together they hold title to the property with right of survivorship, so that upon the death of either, the survivor automatically 

acquires title to the share of the deceased spouse. 
 

Tenancy in common.  As recognized in AS 34.15.110(a) and .140(c), a form of ownership by two or more persons whereby each person 

holds an undivided interest in the property.  Unlike a tenancy by the entirety, the interest of a tenant in common does not terminate upon 

his or her death (i.e., there is no right of survivorship) and instead passes to his or her estate or heirs. 
 

Note:  Joint tenancy has been abolished by AS 34.15.130.  Thus the University cannot convey property in a joint tenancy. 

 

SIGNATURES 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have read and understand the Terms and Conditions of the University of Alaska 2017 Land Sales Cash 

Purchase Disposal and accept the terms and conditions therein.  I have enclosed a cashier’s check or money order, payable to the 

University of Alaska, in an amount equal to at least TEN PERCENT (10%) of the Offer Amount.  I hereby agree that the Offer Amount 

represents the purchase price I shall pay for the parcel if my offer is accepted.  Additionally, I agree to pay all closing costs and all other 

fees associated with the purchase of this parcel as described under the Terms and Conditions of the University of Alaska 2017 Land 

Sales Cash Purchase Disposal.  IF MY OFFER IS ACCEPTED AND, FOR WHATEVER REASON, I DECIDE NOT TO ENTER 

INTO A PURCHASE AGREEMENT, I AGREE THAT THIS DEPOSIT SHALL BE RETAINED BY THE UNIVERSITY AS 

LIQUIDATED DAMAGES, AND NOT AS A PENALTY, PURSUANT TO PARAGRAPH 12. 
 

I hereby certify that I am EIGHTEEN (18) YEARS of age or older. 

 

Signature          Date      

 

 

Signature          Date      

 

 

Signature          Date      

 

 

UNIVERSITY OF ALASKA, FACILITIES AND LAND MANAGEMENT 

1815 BRAGAW STREET, SUITE 101, ANCHORAGE, ALASKA  99508-3438 

jbennett
Typewritten Text
City of North Pole

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text
X

jbennett
Typewritten Text
X

jbennett
Typewritten Text
A municipal corporation of the State of Alaska

jbennett
Typewritten Text

jbennett
Typewritten Text



125 Snowman Lane  
North Pole, Alaska 99705 

(907) 488-8593 (907) 488-3002 (fax)

bill@northpolealaska.com 

Memo 
To: 

From: 

Date: 

Subject: 

North Pole City Council 

Bill Butler  

September 26, 2013 

Extend the heating fuel contract for the period January 1 through December 31, 

2018 with Alaska Fuel Services at the same terms as the 2017 contract.  

Recommendation:  

Extend Alaska Fuel Services’ contract to deliver heating fuel in 2018 at same rate over 

the rack charge as in the 2017 contract--$0.059 (5.9 cents) per gallon.   

Background. 

In 2017, the invitation for heating fuel bids included an option to extend a contract up to 

two individual years if acceptable terms could be agreed upon by both parties. The 

intention of including this option was to help reduce the cost of bidding and to reduce 

the disruptions that occasionally occur when switching to a new fuel oil provider each 

year. Some of the issues that have occurred in previous years include the new provider 

not knowing the location of fuel tanks and missing initial delivers in the midst of the 

heating season and on one occasion the previous contractor kept delivering fuel after 

their contract had expired.  

In 2017, Alaska Fuel Services contract was to deliver heating fuel for $0.059 (5.9 cents) 

over the rack charge. Alaska Fuel Services has agreed to provide the same terms to the 

City for 2018 (January 1 through December 31, 2018). See attached notification from 

Alaska Fuel Services to provide heating fuel at the same terms as for the 2017 contract. 

Alaska Fuel Services delivery drivers know the location of all of our fuel tanks. They 

have also been prompt in notifying the City when the rack price changes as is required 

in the contact. 

City of North Pole 

Director of City Services 



From: Ben Wilker
To: Bill Butler
Subject: Alaska Fuel Services, 2018 heating oil
Date: Friday, September 22, 2017 9:58:16 AM

We would like to continue the delivering heating oil at 5.9 cents over rack rates/gallon for the
city of north pole for the year of 2018.

Thank you,

Ben Wilker
Operations Manager
Alaska Fuel Services, LLC
P(907) 374-9992
F(907) 479-2287
www.alaskafuelservices.com

mailto:Bill.Butler@northpolealaska.org


 

 

Memo 
To: North Pole City Council 

From: William Butler 

Date: September 26, 20156 

Subject: Authorize the special purchase of gravel from HC Contractors needed for the water 

system extension project winter construction activities. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Authorize the special purchase of gravel that needs to be pre-purchased prior to the award of 

the water system construction contract to support winter 2018 construction activities from 

HC Contractors. 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

The water system extension project requires construction activities to begin in winter 2018 to 

avoid US Army Corps of Engineer permitting complications that would hinder the timely 

completion of the project. Construction of approximately one mile of water mains will occur 

in wetlands. Construction in wetlands in the spring summer or fall will require extensive 

permitting because the construction activities will cause wetland damage. Building in 

wetlands when the land is thawed will require construction of a road to or special bedding 

mats to support construction equipment. Also, construction in thawed wetlands will cause 

significant damage to the wetlands that would require the purchase of an equivalent area of 

wetlands to offset the damaged land. The added cost of installing water mains when the 

wetlands are thawed and purchasing offsetting wetlands will add to the construction cost of 

the project plus require more complicated permitting. 

 

Installing water mains in the wetlands when the land is frozen can avoid the increased cost of 

summer construction and reduce permitting. Working on frozen ground will not require 

construction of a road or bedding mats. Excavation of the frozen ground, installing the water 

main then replacing the frozen ground will not require extensive Corps permitting and will 

not require purchasing offsetting wetlands.  

 

The current timeline to release the construction request for proposals is late October with 

proposals due in late November. A construction contractor is expected to be selected by early 

December. By the time the construction contractor is selected, they will not be able to 

purchase gravel and bedding material that is unfrozen and therefore, they will not be able to 

125 Snowman Lane 

North Pole, Alaska 99705 

(907) 488-8593 

(907) 488-3002 (fax) 

bill@northpolealaska.com 

City of North Pole 
Director of City Services 



 

 

install the water main in the wetlands area in winter 2018. Pre-purchasing the needed gravel 

products now, stockpiling and covering them now will provide the construction contractor 

with the needed gravel products to begin work in winter 2018.  

 

The North Pole Municipal Code provides a mechanism to purchase needed items when the 

regular purchasing process is not in the best interest of the City. (See ‘16.060 Innovative and 

special procurements’ below.) The City attorney was consulted to determine if the pre-

purchase of gravel satisfied the special procurement requirements. She determined that in this 

instance application of this section of Code was legitimate. The products needed are 7,920 

cubic yards of pea gravel and 8,520 cubic yards of subbase and the supplier must stockpile 

and cover the materials. The city solicited quotes from five suppliers: 

 

 Fairbanks Sand & Gravel 

 North Pole Gravel Products 

 Great North West 

 HC Contractors 

 Browns Hill 

 

Two suppliers submitted quotes 

 

Supplier Pea Gravel Subbase Total 

HC Contractors $102,960.00 $51,120.00 $154,080.00 

Fairbanks Sand & Gravel $98,920.80 $77,191.20 $176,112.00 

 

 

 

 

 

4.16.060 Innovative and special procurements. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this code, the Mayor or his designee may initiate a 

procurement above the small purchase amount specified in NPMC 4.16.030, Purchase limits, 

when the Mayor or his designee determines that an unusual or unique circumstance exists 

that makes the application of all requirements of competitive sealed bidding or competitive 

sealed proposals contrary to the public interest, including, but not limited to, the need to meet 

new or unique State requirements, new technologies, or to achieve best value. Any special 

procurement under this section shall be made with such competition as is practicable under 

the circumstances. The Mayor or his designee in the contract file shall include a written 

determination of the basis for the procurement and for the selection of the particular 

contractor, and a report shall be made publicly available at least annually describing all such 

determinations. (Ord. 14-11 § 2, 2014) 



 

 

Memo 
To: North Pole City Council 

From: William Butler 

Date: September 26, 20156 

Subject: Amendment to the Developer Agreement for the Ford Subdivision—Fourth Addition 

to accept a Promissory Note secured by a Deed of Trust in lieu of a 1-year warranty 

bond 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the amendment to the Developer Agreement for the Ford Subdivision—Fourth 

Addition to accept a Promissory Note secured by a Deed of Trust in lieu of a 1-year warranty 

bond for $9,250, the equivalent of five present of the improvement valued at $185,000. 

 

AMENDMENT 

 

Amend 1.60 by deleting the existing paragraph in full and replacing with the following: 

 

1.60  In lieu of a 1 year warranty bond, the developer shall provide and sign a Promissory 

Note secured by a Deed of Trust on the property specified below and agreed to by the 

Mayor, in a form acceptable to and approved by the City Attorney, clear of all liens and 

encumbrances. The promissory note shall be equal to or greater than five percent (5%) of the 

construction cost for the completed improvements as established by the Mayor or Mayor’s 

designee, for the phase which the Developer desires the City to accept.  The City will release 

the note and deed of trust on said property after a period of 1 year from acceptance of the 

improvements by the City if no warranty claims are outstanding. Should the Developer 

desire, with the Mayor’s consent, to have the deed transferred to another parcel, or to replace 

it with a cash bond, the developer agrees to maintain the security needed by the city.   

 

Property 

Fairbanks Recording District 

Lot 8 Block C 

Ford Second Edition 

Parcel # 0580856 

Owner: Liberty Homes, Inc. 

2017 assessed value: $26,473 

125 Snowman Lane 

North Pole, Alaska 99705 

(907) 488-8593 

(907) 488-3002 (fax) 

bill@northpolealaska.com 

City of North Pole 
Director of City Services 



Sponsored by: Mayor Bryce J. Ward 
Introduced & Adopted: October 2, 2017  

 
CITY OF NORTH POLE 1 

 2 
RESOLUTION 17-17 3 

 4 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING OWNERSHIP AND MAINTENANCE 5 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR 1ST AVENUE FROM ROSSONS CROSS WAY 6 
TO HOMESTEAD ROAD; 2ND AND 3RD AVENUES FROM ROSSONS 7 

CROSS WAY TO THERRON STREET AND THERRON STREET FROM 8 
1ST AVENUE TO 4TH AVENUE IN THE FORD SUBDIVISION, THIRD 9 

ADDITION   10 
  11 
WHEREAS, The City of North Pole has the authority to accept ownership and maintenance 12 
responsibilities for streets constructed to City standards within public rights-o-way within the 13 
city limits, and 14 
 15 
WHEREAS, the streets platted within the Ford Subdivision, Third Addition have been approved 16 
by the Fairbanks North Star Borough, and   17 
 18 
WHEREAS, 1st Avenue from Rossons Cross Way to Homestead Road; 2nd and 3rd Avenues 19 
from Rossons Cross Way to Therron Street; and Therron Street from 1st Avenue to 4th Avenue 20 
have been inspected by the City to ensure they were built according to the requirements 21 
contained in the Developer Agreement between the City and Liberty Homes, Inc.; an as-built 22 
drawing of the streets has been submitted; and a Deed of Trust (property lien attached) has been 23 
provided to the City to satisfy the warranty requirements. 24 
 25 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that in accordance with Section 12.16.010 of the 26 
North Pole Municipal Code of Ordnances, the North Pole City Council accepts ownership and 27 
maintenance responsibility for 1st Avenue from Rossons Cross Way to Homestead Road; 2nd 28 
and 3rd Avenues from Rossons Cross Way to Therron Street; and Therron Street from 1st 29 
Avenue to 4th Avenue within the Ford Subdivision, Third Addition. 30 
 31 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY A DULY CONSTITIUTED QUORUM OF THE NORTH 32 
POLE CITY COUNCIL THIS 2nd DAY OF OCTOBER 2017.  33 
 34 
 35 
        _____________________________ 36 
        Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 37 
 38 
 39 
ATTEST: 40 
 41 
 42 
________________________________ 43 
Judy L. Binkley, North Pole City Clerk 44 
 45 
 46 
 47 PASSED/FAILED 

Yes:  
No:   
Absent:  
 




	Agenda
	Minutes: 09-18-2017
	Proclamation: Student of the Month
	New Business: Acceptance Request of 2017 SHSP Grant
	New Business: Acceptance Request of G2 Construction's Proposal to Design and Renovate the Santa's Senior Center
	New Business: Acceptance Request of Hubbard Excavation's Bid for the 2017-2018 Snow Removal Contract
	New Business: Authorize the Purchase of a Parcel of Land from UAF
	New Business: Extend the Heating Fuel Contract for Jan 1 - Dec 31, 2018 with AFS
	New Business: Authorize the Special Purchase of Gravel from HC Contractors
	New Business: Amendment to the Developer Agreement for the Ford Subdivison
	New Business: Resolution 17-17 - Accepting Ownership and Maintenance Responsibility



